University of South Dakota
USD RED

Dissertations and Theses

Theses, Dissertations, and Student Projects

12-2021

SOLAR GENERATED ELECTRICITY: AN ANALYSIS OF WHAT SECTORS ARE MOST AFFECTED BY RENEWABLE PORTFOLIO STANDARDS AND RELATED POLICIES

Logan Knollenberg

Follow this and additional works at: https://red.library.usd.edu/diss-thesis

Part of the Oil, Gas, and Energy Commons

SOLAR GENERATED ELECTRICITY: AN ANALYSIS OF WHAT SECTORS ARE MOST AFFECTED BY RENEWABLE PORTFOLIO STANDARDS AND RELATED POLICIES

By

Logan F Knollenberg

B.S., University of Wisconsin - La Crosse, 2020

A Thesis Submitted in the Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science

Department of Sustainability and Environment

Sustainability Program In the Graduate School The University of South Dakota December 2021 The members of the Committee appointed to examine the thesis of Logan F Knollenberg find it satisfactory and recommend that it be accepted.

DocuSigned by:
Joseph kantenbacher
69F9D0E48C9E457

Chairperson, Dr. Joseph Kantenbacher

Brunnan Jordan 900920AD303041B...

Dr. Brennan Jordan

DocuSigned by: Mandulitemande -5763FB38E7BF4DC...

Dr. Mandie Weinandt

Acknowledgments

I would first like to thank my research advisor, Dr. Joseph Kantenbacher, for his guidance and support throughout this process. I cannot express how grateful I am for his expertise and willingness to help. I would also like to thank Dr. Brennan Jordan and Dr. Mandie Weinandt for their helpful comments and feedback that were crucial in forming my thesis. Your constructive feedback pushed me to think outside the box and understand my thesis topic in greater depth. I am very appreciative of the time each of you set aside to help me complete my thesis. I would also like to thank the Department of Sustainability and Environment at the University of South Dakota for providing me the opportunity to pursue my master's degree. Lastly, I cannot thank my family enough for their continuous support and encouragement throughout this journey.

Abstract

The aim of this thesis is to analyze state-specific Renewable Portfolio Standards (RPS) to understand their design and spillover effect onto non-utility (commercial, residential, industrial) sectors. Past research has overlooked non-utility sectors, often focusing on overall renewable energy growth and electricity generation from a combined end-result perspective. Solar capacity and solar generated electricity data from 5 states are used to establish which non-utility sectors experienced the highest level of solar growth from RPSs and related policies between 2010 and 2019. An explanatory sequential design is utilized, where interrupted time series analyses and exploratory case studies are performed to analyze each policy's effectiveness at increasing solar growth (measured in capacity or electricity generation). It was concluded that the commercial sector experienced the highest level of solar growth of the sectors analyzed. In addition, policies regarding net metering, aggregate net metering, and Solar Renewable Energy Credits were found to significantly increase solar growth in the commercial sector. The residential sector was found to only exhibit significant solar growth from financial incentives, while the industrial sector displayed no significant solar growth from the RPS policies analyzed. The findings of this research can help influence future renewable energy policy designs and act as a vehicle for research on other renewable energy sources.

Thesis Advisor Joseph Kantenbacher

ommittee Page	ii
cknowledgements	iii
bstract	iv
ist of Tables	vii
ist of Figures	ix
ntroduction	1
bjectives	5
iterature Review	6
1ethods	10
Quantitative Approach	10
Data	14
States Included	17
Statistical Software	17
Qualitative Approach	18
esults	19
Massachusetts	20
New Jersey	27
Pennsylvania	34
Nevada	42
Florida	49
Summary of Results	51

Table of Contents

Case Studies	52
Pennsylvania Case Study	52
New Jersey Case Study	55
Comparative Study	57
Discussion	58
Key Findings	58
Interpretation of Results	59
Comparison State - Florida	63
Comparison with Previous Research	64
Limitations and Future Research Opportunities	65
Conclusion	66
References	68
Appendices	77

List of Tables

Table 1: Statistical packages used for each statistical method	18
Table 2: Segmented linear regression slopes and comparative p-value of pre-slope versus post-slope (Massachusetts' commercial sector).	21
Table 3: Segmented multiple regression slopes, summary statistics, and comparative p-value (Massachusetts' commercial sector - SREC II)	21
Table 4: Components and summary statistics for the SREC II modification ARIMA forecast model (Massachusetts' commercial sector).	23
Table 5: Segmented linear regression slopes and comparative p-value of pre-slope versus post-slope (Massachusetts' residential sector)	26
Table 6: Segmented linear regression slopes and comparative p-value of pre-slope versus post-slope (New Jersey's commercial sector)	28
Table 7: Segmented multiple regression slopes, summary statistics, and comparative p-value (New Jersey's commercial sector - Clean Energy Act)	28
Table 8: Components and summary statistics for the Clean Energy Act ARIMA forecast model (New Jersey's commercial sector)	30
Table 9: Segmented linear regression slopes and comparative p-value of pre-slope versus post-slope (New Jersey's residential sector). Clean Energy Act post-policy data is insufficient in measuring policy effectiveness (N/A)	32
Table 10: Contingency table for Clean Energy Act (New Jersey's industrial sector)	33
Table 11: Segmented linear regression slopes and comparative p-value of pre-slope versus post-slope (Pennsylvania's commercial sector)	35
Table 12: Segmented multiple regression slopes, summary statistics, and comparative p-value (Pennsylvania commercial sector – Sunshine Program)	35
Table 13: Components and summary statistics for the Sunshine Program ARIMA forecast model (Pennsylvania's commercial sector)	37
Table 14: Segmented linear regression slopes and comparative p-value of pre-slope versus post-slope (Pennsylvania's residential sector)	39
Table 15: Contingency table for the Sunshine Program (Pennsylvania's industrial sector)	40

Table 16: Contingency table for the Net Metering Policy (Pennsylvania's industrial sector)
Table 17: Segmented linear regression slopes and comparative p-value of pre-slope versus post-slope (Nevada's commercial sector)
Table 18: Segmented multiple regression slopes, summary statistics, and ComparativeP-value (Nevada's commercial sector – A.B. 428). Only data from month 1 -73 wasused to avoid effects from the Net Metering Policy
Table 19: Components and summary statistics for A.B. 428 ARIMA forecast model (Nevada's commercial sector).
Table 20: Segmented linear regression slopes and comparative p-value of pre-slope versus post-slope (Nevada's residential sector)
Table 21: Summary of results denoted by solar growth level

List of Figures

Figure 1: Illustrates how policies underlying an RPS affect electric utilities as well As the three major renewable energy producing sectors. State Acts/Programs was Included to show how other legislation outside of the RPS can also have an effect
on each sector. The black lines represent policies that affect electric utilities while the red lines represent policies that affect the three sectors. Policies categorized under an RPS are denoted with a dashed black line
Figure 2 : Segmented linear regression of solar electricity generation in Massachusetts' commercial sector
Figure 3: ARIMA forecast predicting solar electricity generation had the SREC II modification not occurred (Massachusetts' commercial sector)23
Figure 4: Segmented linear regression of solar capacity in Massachusetts' residential sector
Figure 5: Segmented linear regression of solar electricity generation in New Jersey's commercial sector
Figure 6: ARIMA forecast predicting solar electricity generation had the Clean Energy Act not occurred (New Jersey's commercial sector)
Figure 7: Segmented linear regression of solar capacity in New Jersey's residential sector
Figure 8: Segmented linear regression of solar electricity generation in Pennsylvania's commercial sector
Figure 9: ARIMA forecast predicting solar electricity generation had the Sunshine Program continued (Pennsylvania's commercial sector)
Figure 10: Segmented linear regression of solar capacity in Pennsylvania's residential sector
Figure 11: Segmented linear regression of solar electricity generation in Nevada's commercial sector
Figure 12: ARIMA forecast predicting solar electricity generation had A.B. 428 not occurred (Nevada's commercial sector)
Figure 13: Segmented linear regression of solar capacity in Nevada's residential sector

Figure 14: Data and linear regression of solar electricity production in Florida's	
commercial sector4	19
Figure 15: Data and linear regression of solar capacity in Florida's residential	
sector	50

Introduction

Greenhouse gases are the largest contributor to global warming (Ahima 2020). The combustion of fossil fuels forms carbon dioxide (CO₂), which is the leading anthropogenic greenhouse gas contributor and further adds to the greenhouse gases present in our atmosphere (EIA 2020). In 2018, the United States emitted 6,677 million metric tons of CO₂ equivalent, with transportation (28%), electricity (27%), and industry (22%) being the major sources (EPA 2019). The residential and commercial sectors (grouped into one), and agricultural sector contributed modest amounts, with each responsible for 10% of emissions (EPA 2019). In total, 78% of the United States emissions come from fossil fuels (EPA 2019). Eliminating our dependence on fossil fuels is one of the most effective ways of decreasing greenhouse gas emissions and lessening the effects of climate change (Corfee-Morlot et al. 2019).

Deploying renewable energy technologies for the production of clean energy is an effective way to meet our ever-increasing energy demands while reducing climate change (Long et al. 2016). In 2020, renewable energy accounted for 21% of electricity production in the United States and is projected to double by 2050 (EIA 2021). Solar and wind technologies are responsible for the majority of this projected growth (EIA 2021). From 2013 to 2018 the United States saw a 50% decrease in the cost of solar and 27% decrease in the cost of wind, leading to more affordable installation (EIA 2020). These decreases in costs caused an increase in solar and wind installations, meaning more electricity can be generated from these renewables (EIA 2020).

In addition to rapidly declining installation costs, policies can help accelerate the deployment of renewables, thereby pushing along efforts to decrease climate change. Renewable energy policies can be separated into two categories: (1) financial incentives and (2) rules and regulations (Delmas et al. 2011). The first category, financial incentives, consists of policies that

include tax incentives, grants, loans, and rebates that encourage renewable energy production and implementation (Menz et al. 2006). The second category, rules and regulations, includes policies such as the Renewable Portfolio Standard (RPS), Mandatory Green Power Options (MGPO), and fuel disclosure rules that work on mandating action and requiring specific percentages of energy and electricity production on an annual basis (Menz et al. 2006). As of 2007, all but three states (Alabama, Alaska, and Mississippi) have implemented at least one rules and regulations renewable energy policy (Delmas et al. 2011). To date, Alabama, Alaska, and Mississippi have not implemented an RPS, MGPO, or fuel disclosure rules (rules and regulation policies) but do offer a plethora of financial incentives (DSIRE 2021).

In the United States, a key public policy method for expanding renewables use is the RPS, which requires electric utilities operating in a given state to provide a specified percentage of electricity from renewables to its customers, leading to an increase in renewable energy production (EPA 2021). Beyond the RPS required percentage, an array of supplementary policies compose an RPS, working to assist in reaching the specific percentage requirement. Net metering is a policy that allows residential and commercial customers who produce their own electricity to receive compensation for the electricity they supply (EPA 2021). A solar carve-out is a policy mechanism established by a state's RPS and requires solar electricity to account for a specific portion of a state's RPS percentage requirement (EPA 2021). Additionally, Solar Renewable Energy Credits (SRECs) are performance-based and are earned through solar electricity generation (1 SREC per MWh generated) (EPA 2021). SRECs are traded in markets and assist utilities in meeting solar carve-out targets. Future, specific programs, acts, and policies outside the RPS umbrella can contribute to solar electricity generation and RPS targets (see Appendix B). For example, Property Assessed Clean Energy (PACE) policies allow home or

business owners to receive financing from a local government to cover up-front renewable energy costs, in exchange, financing is repaid through a special assessment on their property tax over a period of years or decades (SEIA n.d.). PACE allows the burden of initial costs to be distributed over a period of time, making renewable energy installation more affordable (SEIA n.d.).

This research focuses on RPS policies and their role in solar electricity growth. RPS policies are the main focus of this paper due to wide adoption efforts and their integral role in promoting renewable energy growth (Shields 2021). While RPS policies directly affect utility sector electricity producers (SEIA n.d.), they may potentially have second-order effects on renewables deployment in non-utility sectors. This research takes a sectoral approach to denote which non-utility sectors are impacted the most by differing state-level RPSs. Each policy included in an RPS can have different effects on each sector; analyzing by sector captures variability in policy effectiveness. This approach was taken because in previous policy effectiveness research little attention has been given to the commercial, residential, and industrial sectors who also generate solar electricity. Policy spillover effects in past research demonstrate RPSs' ability to have an impact outside their intended domain, including significant spillover across state borders (Dincer et al. 2014). The intention of this research is to evaluate and analyze the spillover affect that RPS policies have on sectoral solar electricity growth. Therefore, the indirect impacts of RPS policies are interpreted for how they differentially impact each sector in terms of solar electricity growth. Figure 1 illustrates how policies under the RPS umbrella, in addition to state acts and programs, affect both utility and non-utility sectors.



Figure 1 - Illustrates how policies underlying an RPS affect electric utilities as well as the three major renewable energy producing sectors. State Acts/Programs was included to show how other legislation outside of the RPS can also have an effect on each sector. The black lines represent policies that affect electric utilities while the red lines represent policies that affect the three sectors. Policies categorized under an RPS are denoted with a dashed black line.

Three sectors were evaluated to quantify solar electricity growth at the state level. Each sector has varying levels of responsibility regarding electricity consumption that leads to greenhouse gas emissions (EPA 2018). The Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) defines each sector in terms of their electricity consumption as a percent of total national electricity consumption. In addition to the electricity consumption percentage, the customers that comprise each sector and contribute to electricity consumption are detailed. While this research was specific to solar electricity growth, defining these sectors in terms of consumption allowed for a deeper understanding of each sector's composition. The commercial sector (35% of electricity consumption) was defined to include government facilities, service-providing facilities and equipment, and other public and private organizations (EPA 2018). The industrial sector includes

facilities and equipment use electricity for processing, producing, and assembling goods, including the industries of manufacturing, mining, agriculture, and construction. This sector comprised the smallest share of the three discussed at 27% of electricity consumption (ibid.). Lastly, the residential sector is the largest (37% of electricity consumption) and was defined by the EPA to include single-family homes and multi-family housing (ibid.). Major contributors to the residential sector include residential heating, cooling, lighting, and ventilation (ibid.). The transportation sector was not included due to its relatively small share of electricity consumption at only 0.2% (ibid.).

Utilizing these three sectors allows for assessments to be made regarding which sectors demonstrate the most growth under RPS policies. Unlike other sources of electricity from renewables, solar power can be readily incorporated into non-utility sectors (i.e., commercial, industrial, residential). Within solar, only solar PV is examined in this research due to substantial data being available (compared to other solar technologies) and because it is the most common renewable energy technology used to generate electricity in each sector (NREL n.d.).

Objectives

The first goal of this research is to understand RPS policy design and its spillover effect on non-utility sectors. RPS policies are a relatively young form of policy that differs dramatically among each state (DSIRE 2021). A second goal is to formulate recommendations for policy makers and future researchers studying RPSs and renewable energy policies to establish better suited policy decisions.

Particularly, this research includes the following sub-objectives:

- 1. To determine which specific RPS policies provided the most assistance and solar growth among each sector.
- 2. To develop an understanding of which sectors (commercial, industrial, residential) are affected the most in terms of solar electricity growth from RPS policies.
- To draw conclusions regarding why RPS policies benefitted certain sectors more than others.

Literature Review

The first RPS policy was adopted by the state of Iowa in 1983 with intent of increasing their production of electricity from renewable energy sources (Zhou et al. 2020). To date, 29 states and the District of Columbia have adopted an RPS with 8 additional states implementing voluntary goals related to increase renewable energy production (EIA 2019).

An RPS is a policy that requires or encourages electricity producers to meet specific targets for electricity production from renewable-based sources (EIA 2019). This policy is structured to include increasing electricity production targets with the end goal of increasing the quantity of electricity produced from renewable-based sources. While the main focus of RPS policies is to increase electricity production from renewables, multiple states have allowed additional forms of technology that are deemed eligible under their RPS (DSIRE 2021). For instance, Illinois groups organic waste for energy production, biodiesel, landfill gas, and anerobic digestion under their RPS (DSIRE 2021).

The effectiveness of RPSs vary due to differences in the supplementary policies included and the stringency of their requirements (Yin et al. 2011, Ogundrinde et al. 2018). The strength of RPS policies can be determined through multiple factors including the renewable electricity target, compliance speed, jurisdictional reach, and resource eligibility in addition to specific design choices that vary by state (Davies 2014). RPSs continue to be the most widely adopted form of renewable energy policy regarding electricity production and continuously demonstrate their strength in promoting electricity generation from renewable-based sources (Zhou et al. 2020). Past research provides information on RPS effectiveness, policy implications, and RPSs' role in electricity production, although it fails to differentiate by non-utility sector when looking at solar electricity generation and capacity.

Research on RPS policy effectiveness has identified a decrease in renewable energy generation when analyzing the effect of RPSs (Upton et al. 2017). These effects range from RPSs being ineffective at increasing renewable energy generation, to RPSs having a weak effect on renewable energy generation relative to states without an RPS (Delmas et al. 2011, Upton et al. 2017). To elaborate further, Upton et al. (2017) found that RPSs impact on electricity generation was insignificant when comparing states who have adopted an RPS to states who have not. These findings are in contrast with other studies where RPSs were found to have a significant and positive impact on renewable energy development (Yin et al. 2010) and renewable energy generation (Carley 2009). Some of the variation in results can be attributed to differences in methodology, including treating RPSs as a dichotomous variable (Zhou et al. 2020), employing a cross-sectional approach, and ignoring heterogeneity among RPS policies (Yin et al. 2010).

Another branch of literature within the RPS realm focuses on which components of RPS policies are hindering (working against) rather than helpful to renewable energy development. Ogundrinde et al. (2018) reported several factors that appeared to make RPS policy mandates

less effective. These include weak enforcement of policies, the introduction of renewable energy credits, policies that are too ambitious, and variances in scope, depth, and structure (2018). Other research has identified design parameters that are critical to RPS policy effectiveness. Davies (2014) singled out four design parameters that determine policy efficacy: the renewable electricity target, compliance speed, jurisdictional reach, and resource eligibility. Research tends to concentrate on policy effectiveness and its links to energy infrastructure and electricity production rather than the actual components that comprise RPS policies.

The geographic levels for assessing RPS policies are variable within the body of previous research. Ogundrinde (2018) utilized Regional Transmission Organizations (RTOs) to categorize and differentiate the effectiveness of RPS policies in the United States. As the electrical grid in the United States does not obey state lines, RTOs are tasked with managing and coordinating the multi-state electric grid system (Ogundrinde et al. 2018). Seven RTOs were identified that account for roughly two-thirds of the country's annual electricity production demand (ibid.). Of these seven RTOs, conclusions were reached regarding which RTOs contribute to different renewable energy technologies (wind and solar) and their growth among each RTO (ibid.). Other research has approached the spatial component by limiting the categorization of RPS policies to state borders, which is consistent with the policy's scope of coverage (Yin et al. 2010, Zhou et al. 2020, Delmas et al. 2011, Upton et al. 2017). More specifically, research on how an RPS policy impacts an individual state has been published. Roundtree (2019) discussed the impacts of Nevada's RPS on the state of Nevada rather than comparing their RPS to other states. Holistic and specific research on state RPSs has allowed for RPS policies to be analyzed from a multitude of perspectives.

Statistical analysis has been the most common form used to determine RPS effectiveness and its contribution to renewable energy growth and development. The majority of research has taken this approach, through varying in the specifics of the analyses. Regression analysis has been the most common form of statistical methodology with Yin et al. (2010), Zhou et al. (2020), Delmas et al. (2011), Upton et al. (2017), and Carley (2009) utilizing this approach in their research. Other forms of statistical analysis include calculating the correlation between energy capacity and strength of RPS using a time series evaluation (Ogundrinde et al. 2018). Time series analyses were performed by both Yin et al. (2010) and Carley (2009) in addition to Ogundrinde et al. (2018). On the other hand, non-statistical approaches were also used by researchers when studying RPS effectiveness and contribution to renewable energy growth. Roundtree (2019) used a case study approach, utilizing expert interviews, policy documents, recent news pieces, peerreviewed journal articles, and agency reports to formulate conclusions and examine RPS policies.

Research on RPS effectiveness, its contribution to increasing electricity production from renewable-based sources, and its policy designs tend to saturate the RPS research domain while looking past RPS benefits to non-utility sectors. Few publications mention this research question, often focusing on overall renewable energy growth and electricity generation from a combined end-result perspective. This gap in research highlights a lack of understanding on which sectors benefit the most from RPS policies and their design implications.

Methods

Research Methods

This research took a mixed-method approach that utilized an explanatory sequential design. The mixed method approach has been categorized as the third methodological movement and is critical in achieving the goals set in this research (Doyle et al. 2009).

Quantitative Approach

For the residential and commercial sectors, numerous interrupted time series (ITS) analyses were performed with the goal of determining variations in solar electricity generation and capacity from RPS policy modifications. (The industrial sector was unable to be analyzed this way; see Data below.) Specific policies and policy changes were classified as intervention points to observe changes in solar electricity growth in pre-policy versus post-policy data. ITS is a form of statistical analysis that can be performed by multiple methods. Most of the past research has achieved the ITS design through segmented regression or forecast models (Turner et al. 2021). This research utilized both segmented regression and Autoregressive Integrated Moving Average (ARIMA) forecasting to structure the ITS design. Both segmented regression and ARIMA forecasting are explained in detail in the subsequent pages.

ARIMA forecasting uses a combination of an Autoregressive (AR) and Moving Average (MA) model to forecast future values based on past values (Schaffer 2021). Observed data can then be compared with forecasted data to analyze policy effectiveness.

Segmented Regression

Segmented regression is a method of breaking data into sections that correspond with breakpoints and fitting a regression to the data between breakpoints. This allowed the data to be

analyzed for changes in slope (which represents the rate of solar PV deployment) before and after the breakpoint (policy intervention). A comparative p-value was calculated to determine whether two slopes were statistically different from one another (see Appendix A). Because this work has a constrained amount of data available (see below), a significance level of 0.1 was selected as the threshold for rejecting the null hypothesis that the difference between the pre-slope and post-slope is zero (see Appendix A). A policy was considered to cause significant growth if the comparative p-value was under 0.1.

Segmented Linear Regression Model:

$$y = \beta_0 + \beta_1 x_1$$
; $((x < P) (x > P)) + ... + \varepsilon$

Segmented Multiple Regression Model:

$$y = \beta_0 + \beta_1 x_1 + \beta_2 x_2 + \beta_3 x_3; ((x < P) (x > P)) + ... + \varepsilon$$

- y = Dependent Variable Predicted Value
- β_0 = Intercept Coefficient
- $\beta_i + x_i \dots$ = Regression Coefficient (β_i) of the Independent Variable (x_i)
- P = Policy Intervention Date
- X = Time

$\mathcal{E} = \text{Error Term}$

Segmented Component:

$$\left((x < P) (x > P) \right) + \dots$$

Parameters were added to the linear and multiple regressions to create data subsets. For example, a policy modification that took place on August 2015 (Month 68) would substitute 68 for P with x representing time (months in this case). These parameters subset the data into prepolicy (only data before month 68) and post-policy (only data after month 68). Multiple segmented components may be included to establish several subsets to signify multiple interventions (policy modifications).

Autoregressive Integrated Moving Average (ARIMA)

An ARIMA model is a statistical method used to satisfy the ITS design. It uses a combination of an Autoregressive (AR) model and a Moving Average (MA) model to forecast future values based on past values (Schaffer 2021). The AR model predicts Y_t (dependent variable) by one or multiple lagged values of Y_t . The equation below depicts the first component of the ARIMA model, the AR model (Schaffer 2021). Variables are defined as: c is a constant, ϕ is the magnitude of the autocorrelation, p is the number of lags, and \mathcal{E}_t is the error.

$$Y_{t} = c + \phi_{1}Y_{t-1} + \phi_{2}Y_{t-2} + \dots \phi_{p}Y_{t-p} + \varepsilon_{t}$$

The second component of ARIMA is the MA model. In this model, Y_t is predicted by one or multiple lagged values of the error (\mathcal{E}_t) (Schaffer 2021). The equation below depicts the MA model, where *c* is a constant, θ is the value of the autocorrelation of the errors, \mathcal{E}_t is the error, and *q* is the number of lags.

$Y_t = c + \theta_1 \varepsilon_{t-1} + \theta_2 \varepsilon_{t-2} + \dots \theta_q \varepsilon_{t-q}$

Together, the AR and MA models compose the ARIMA model. The ARIMA model allows for values to be forecasted using past data. ARIMA models follow the format ARIMA(p, d, q), where p is equal to the quantity of auto regressive terms, d is how many times the data was differenced, and q is the quantity of lags present in the data. This format can be observed in the title of each ARIMA forecast graph.

Segmented linear regression, segmented multiple regression, and ARIMA forecasting all fall under the ITS umbrella. Selecting only one statistical method was popular in past research, with much of the research published on ITS having taken this route (Turner et al. 2021). An alternative route was utilized in this research. All three, segmented linear regression, segmented multiple regression, and ARIMA forecasting were used in this research. This approach was taken to establish a "checklist" that ensured each policy/modification showed consistent results across all three statistical methods before the results were accepted (checked all three boxes).

To satisfy the ITS design, both segmented linear regressions and segmented multiple regressions were performed. Each segmented linear regression estimated the linear relationship between time and solar capacity (if residential) or solar electricity generation (if commercial). Segmented multiple regressions included the same linear model, but with additional independent variables that control for economic factors that may have also influenced the rate of solar PV deployment.

Data

Data required for this research came in two main forms: information about electricity production and information about policies.

Solar Electricity Production

Solar generated electricity data from the EIA's 860 survey was utilized. The EIA categorizes data on a monthly and annual basis and reports industrial and commercial sector data by state (EIA 2021). This dataset was used because it presented data that was collected through a universal approach that remained consistent across each state and promoted transparency. The EIA collects this data monthly through the EIA-860 survey, which compiles existing electricity data from state-level generators that operate electrical power plants with 1-megawatt or greater capacity (EIA 2020). This project used observations from January 2010 to December 2019. (New Jersey is an exception, with the EIA reporting data from January 2010 to June 2021 for the commercial and industrial sectors).

Total solar PV output from the industrial sector is quite small relative to the EIA's unit for reporting data (thousand MWh). Consequently, after being rounded to the nearest whole number, available data was reported by the EIA as 0 or 1 thousand MWh of production in a given month. On this account, data from the industrial sector could not be analyzed using segmented regression because the data presented as binary rather than continuous and normally distributed. Because of the lack of precision in the data, the nominally continuous data was treated as categorical (binary) data such that a value of 1 represents a month in which solar electricity production was high enough to round to 1 thousand MWh (Production). Conversely, a value of 0 indicates that electricity production was insufficient to be reported at the 1000-MWh level (No Production, even though actual production may have been greater than 0 thousand MWh). Given the categorical and nature of the electricity data, chi-square tests were utilized to analyze the pre-and-post-policy patterns of solar electricity production by the industrial sector.

For this research, Independent Power Producer (IPP) solar production data was included in the commercial sector due to a large quantity of solar electricity being outsourced from IPPs by corporations (Mostow 2015). An IPP is a non-utility power producer that operates facilities for the generation of electricity (EIA n.d.). A 2019 report by the Solar Industries Association (SEIA) found the top ten commercial solar producers accounted for nearly 30% of installed solar capacity in the commercial sector (SEIA 2019). Each of the 10 had signed into multiple power purchase agreements with IPPs throughout the past 10 years, with companies like Apple reporting that IPPs account for the largest portion of their solar portfolio (Sylvia 2019). IPP data was collected through the same EIA-860 survey used for commercial and industrial solar generated electricity data (EIA 2020).

Residential solar generation data was not reflected in the EIA database due to most individual residential solar electricity generators not meeting the 1-megawatt threshold for reporting. This constraint was addressed through the inclusion of residential data from the SEIA that reflects solar electricity capacity in this sector (SEIA 2020). Each state's residential sector data was collected annually and observed from 2010 to 2019.

Because data from the EIA were reported in megawatt-hours (MWh) while data from the SEIA were measured in megawatts (MW), the industrial and commercial sectors were analyzed in terms of generation while the residential sector was analyzed in terms of capacity. *Generation* is a measure of electricity output over time, while *capacity* is the maximum potential level of electricity production. Data was unable to be converted from MW to MWh due to solar units not

consistently operating at full capacity. Residential solar data could not be to be measured in MWh due to insufficient data on actual residential power generation. However, the industrial and commercial sectors are measured in MWh due to data being reported through the EIA-860 survey that generators complete to report electricity generation in MWh. For this reason, each sector was compared with itself (pre-policy modification versus post-policy modification), remaining within sectoral boundaries to avoid a conflict in units.

RPS Policy Data

Data regarding RPS policy design was derived from the Database of State Incentives for Renewables and Efficiency (DSIRE) hosted by North Carolina State University. This database documents each state's RPS policy and the policies that fall under each state's RPS in detail. It also provides information on existing RPSs and changes in policy that occurred throughout the duration of its implementation. In addition to the material provided by DSIRE, each individual state's RPS qualification requirements (requirements on whether a solar installation qualifies for certain policies under an RPS) were analyzed in order to further understand the breadth, scope, and requirements of each state's RPS policy. The design and required qualifications of these policies differ substantially by state, making RPS qualification requirement information pivotal to the accuracy of this research.

Control Variables

Control data were selected based on their relation to solar generated electricity and installed solar capacity. Control variables were needed to accurately estimate changes in the outcome variable. In addition, controls help ensure internal validity in the models by limiting the

influence of confounding variables (Bhandari 2021). The following control variables were included in the analysis:

- Elect.Price [/kWh] \rightarrow Electricity rate per month by state (EIA 2021)
- PV.Price.Com [%Watt] \rightarrow Commercial solar PV price per watt (NREL 2021)
- Energy.CPI [Index YEAR = 100] \rightarrow Energy CPI (FRED 2021)

The control data come from a range of sources including The National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL), Federal Reserve Economic Data (FRED), and the EIA. The electricity rate variable (Elect.Price), energy CPI variable (Energy.CPI), and solar module price variable (PV.Price.Com) were included across all commercial sector multiple regression models in order to stay consistent.

States Included

State selection was based on multiple factors. The states included in this research were Massachusetts, New Jersey, Pennsylvania, Nevada, and Florida. First, these states were chosen because each had sufficient data on solar electricity generation and capacity by sector that was accessible through the EIA and SEIA databases utilized in this research. In addition, each of these states have an established RPS policy, except for Florida, which acted as a comparison state. States with established RPS policies were selected to avoid RPS policies that were recently implemented and potentially hindering to the conclusions of this research due to their untested nature.

Statistical Software

The programming language R was used with the statistical software RStudio (version 4.0.3) to run the ITS analyses and provide graphics for visualization. The following table

portrays which statistical packages were used when running each statistical method. All packages were imported from the Comprehensive R Archive Network.

Segmented Linear	Segmented Multiple	ARIMA
Regression	Regression	Forecasting
multikink	multikink	forecast
dplyr	dplyr	tseries
ggplot2		ggplot2
		dplyr

Table 1 – Statistical packages used for each statistical method.

Qualitative Approach

The second component of the explanatory sequential design was qualitative. A case study approach was taken to further examine RPS policy implications and supplement quantitative data. Brief case studies were performed on the state demonstrating the least benefit and the state demonstrating the greatest benefit to the residential sector regarding solar growth. In both, an exploratory case study approach was utilized to explain the casual links associated between RPS policy design and solar electricity capacity in the residential sector. In addition, a simplified comparative study addressed the similarities and differences in each case study.

An explanatory sequential design approach was taken due to quantitative data analysis not fully addressing the research question. Including a qualitative section involving case studies allowed for the two ends of the spectrum (least and most beneficial to residential sector) of solar electricity capacity to be evaluated for why their policy designs yielded those results. The benefit to the residential sector was utilized as the determining factor for which states received a case study due to its relevance to more individuals, rather than using the commercial or industrial sector where fewer entities would be directly impacted. In addition, these case studies were supplementary to the quantitative data in the residential sector due to this data being annual and limited in scale. Supplementing residential data with qualitative data was necessary to fully analyze the residential sector. RPS policy information from DSIRE, reports from the EIA, newspaper articles, and RPS policy compliance information were utilized in the case studies.

Results

This section was structured to include graphs, summary statistics, and analyses. Analysis began with Massachusetts, addressing each applicable sector. The industrial sector was only included in New Jersey and Pennsylvania due to industrial sector data limitations in the other states. The time series data used in this research exhibited trends between the dependent variable (solar electricity generation or capacity) and the independent variable (time), causing adjusted R² values to be inflated and portray a high fit. Therefore, adjusted R² values are an over-estimate of goodness-of-fit.

Massachusetts



Figure 2 - Segmented linear regression of solar electricity generation in Massachusetts' commercial sector.

	SRE	сп	Carve Out Minimum		Smart Policy	
Period	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post
Intercept	-3.77 *** (0.76)	-13.13 (11.21)	-13.13 (11.21)	-39.42 (33.45)	-39.42 (33.45)	34.27 (48.94)
Time (Months)	0.27 *** (0.02)	0.76** (0.29)	0.76** (0.29)	1.12** (0.42)	1.12** (0.42)	0.47 (0.21)
Adjusted R ²	0.69	0.23	0.23	0.18	0.18	0.17
Degrees of Freedom	50	19	19	25	25	20
Ν	51	20	20	26	26	21
Comparative P-value	0.0	97*	0.4	84	0.5	22

Table 2 - Segmented linear regression slopes and comparative p-value of pre-slope versus post-
slope (Massachusetts' commercial sector). $(p < .10)^* (p < .05)^{**} (p < .01)^{***}$

Table 3 - Segmented multiple regression slopes, summary statistics, and comparative P-value (Massachusetts' commercial sector - SREC II). (p < .10)* (p < .05)** (p < .01)***

	Pre-policy	Post-policy	
Intercept	-6.34	-87.71	
F	(9.35)	(46.62)	
Time	0.77***	1.39**	
(Months)	(0.12)	(0.59)	
Floot Drico	0.85	10.31***	
Elect.F fice	(0.45)	(2.32)	
En anora CDI	-0.09	-0.11	
Energy.CPI	(0.04)	(0.12)	
	4.92**	-2.59	
PV.Price.Com	(2.32)	(8.12)	
Adjusted R ²	0.87	0.69	
Degrees of	23	37	
Freedom			
Ν	27	41	
Comparative P-value	0.172		

A holistic view illustrating how RPS policy modifications affected solar generated electricity is achieved by analyzing Figure 2. Table 2 reports results after running segmented linear regressions on each RPS policy modification. The SREC II modification significantly increased the rate of solar production compared to the pre-policy period ($\beta = 0.27$ vs. 0.76, p =0.097). In addition to increasing the rate of production, a notable level change occurred, suggesting the SREC II modification had an immediate effect on solar electricity generation. A segmented multiple regression was performed to analyze the effect of the SREC II modification (see Table 3). The increase of commercial solar electricity production after the SREC II modification approached significance (p = 0.172). The p-value for each coefficient tested the null hypothesis that the coefficient was equal to zero. P-values were denoted by asterisks with values below 0.1 causing the null hypothesis to be rejected.



Figure 3 - ARIMA forecast predicting solar electricity generation had the SREC II modification not occurred (Massachusetts' commercial sector).

Table 4 - Comp	onents and summ	nary statistics f	or the S	SREC II	modification	ARIMA
forecast model (Massachusetts' o	commercial sec	ctor).			

Best Fit Model	ARIMA(1, 0, 3)
Control Variables	Elect.Price, Energy.CPI
MAE	0.79
MASE	1.25

An ARIMA model (see Figure 3) was tasked to predict how solar generated electricity would have changed if the SREC II modification had not occurred. The ARIMA forecast predicted lower solar electricity generation would have likely occurred if the SREC II modification had not been implemented. Table 4 details summary statistics, including the Mean Average Error (MAE) (0.79), and the Mean Average Scaled Error (MASE) (1.25). Summary statistics imply the ARIMA forecast was not entirely accurate, due to a relatively high MASE value (1.25). The ARIMA forecast affirms conclusions cast by the segmented linear and multiple regression analyses suggesting the SREC II modification had a significant and positive effect on solar generated electricity in Massachusetts' commercial sector. The PV.Price.Com control variable was not included in this ARIMA model (or subsequent models) due to unacceptable MAE and MASE values once the variable was added.

Massachusetts

Residential Sector



Massachusetts Residential Sector

Figure 4 - Segmented linear regression of solar capacity in Massachusetts' residential sector.
	SREC II		Smart Policy	
Period	Pre	Post	Pre	Post
Intercept	-4.67 (-5.33)	76.49 (85.12)	76.49 (85.12)	77.83 (16.65)
Time (Years)	15.9* (3.28)	7.51 (21.8)	7.51 (21.8)	2.5 (5.21)
Adjusted R ²	0.85	0.12	0.12	0.48
Degrees of Freedom	3	2	3	1
Ν	5	4	4	3
Comparative P-value	0.735		0.8	45

Table 5 - Segmented linear regression slopes and comparative p-value of pre-slope versus post-slope (Massachusetts' residential sector).(p < .10)* (p < .05)** (p < .01)***

Figure 4 illustrates how the SREC II policy modification and Smart Policy affected solar capacity in Massachusetts' residential sector. The Solar Carve-out modification was not included in this analysis due to proximity concerns with the SREC II modification. Table 5 reports results after running segmented linear regressions on each RPS policy modification. Neither the SREC II ($\beta = 15.9$ vs. 7.51, p = 0.735) nor the Smart Policy ($\beta = 7.51$ vs. 2.5, p = 0.845) modification significantly increased the rate of solar capacity growth when compared to the pre-policy period. In addition, both policies demonstrated notable level changes, suggesting the SREC II modification had an immediate positive effect on solar capacity while the Smart Policy had an immediate negative effect. Degrees of freedom were low due to a data constraint from residential sector data being reported annually.

New Jersey

Commercial Sector



New Jersey Commercial Sector

Figure 5 – Segmented linear regression of solar electricity generation in New Jersey's commercial sector.

	Solar Act		Clean Energy Act	
Period	Pre	Post	Pre	Post
Intercept	-5.16* (2.03)	-1.55 (6.07)	-1.55 (6.07)	-106.78* (55.41)
Time (Months)	0.78*** (0.11)	0.77*** (0.08)	0.77*** (0.08)	1.74*** (0.46)
Adjusted R ²	0.62	0.52	0.52	0.27
Degrees of Freedom	28	68	68	33
Ν	30	70	70	35
Comparative P-value	0.927		0.03	2**

Table 6 - Segmented linear regression slopes and comparative p-value of pre-slope versus post-slope (New Jersey's commercial sector). $(p < .10)^*$ $(p < .05)^{**}$ $(p < .01)^{***}$

Table 7 - Segmented multiple regression slopes, summary statistics, and comparative P-value(New Jersey's commercial sector - Clean Energy Act). $(p < .10)^*$ $(p < .05)^{**}$ $(p < .01)^{***}$

	Pre-policy	Post-policy
Intercept	-183.91* (89.21)	-368.40 (232.51)
Time (Months)	0.97*	1.45** (1.22)
Elect.Price	12.47*** (2.81)	29.36*** (7.46)
Energy.CPI	-0.08 (0.11)	-0.18 (0.29)
PV.Price.Com	7.05 (15.41)	-36.39 (45.80)
Adjusted R ²	0.61	0.57
Degrees of Freedom	64	31
Ν	69	36
Comparative P-value	0.292	

A broad view illustrating how RPS policy modifications affected solar generated electricity is achieved by analyzing Figure 5. Table 6 reports results after running segmented linear regressions on each RPS policy modification. The Clean Energy Act significantly increased the rate of solar production compared to the pre-policy period ($\beta = 0.77$ vs. 1.74, p =0.032). A segmented multiple regression was performed to analyze the effect of the Clean Energy Act (see Table 7). The increase of commercial solar electricity production after the Clean Energy Act remained well above the established significance level (p = 0.292).



Figure 6 – ARIMA forecast predicting solar electricity generation had the Clean Energy Act not occurred (New Jersey's commercial sector).

Best Fit Model	ARIMA(3, 0, 1)
Control Variables	Elect.Price & Energy.CPI
MAE	6.67
MASE	0.77

1

Table 8 - Components and summary statistics for the Clean Energy Act ARIMA forecast model (New Jersey's commercial sector).

An ARIMA model (see Figure 6) was tasked to predict how solar generated electricity would have changed if the Clean Energy Act had not occurred. The forecast predicted very little variance in solar electricity generation for the first year, although, observed data outpaced the ARIMA forecast in the years following. Summary statistics (see Table 8) MAE (6.67) and MASE (0.77) both reflect an accurate ARIMA forecast. Analysis of the ARIMA forecast suggest the Clean Energy Act had an initial delayed response with an overall weak effect on solar electricity production. The ARIMA forecast analysis was consistent with the segmented multiple regression results, although it failed to illustrate the same effect demonstrated by the segmented linear regression.

New Jersey



Figure 7 – Segmented linear regression of solar capacity in New Jersey's residential sector.

Table 9 - Segmented linear regression slopes and comparative p-value of pre-slope versus post-slope (New Jersey's residential sector). Clean Energy Act post-policy data is insufficient in measuring policy effectiveness (N/A). $(p < .10)^*$ $(p < .05)^{**}$ $(p < .01)^{***}$

	Solar Act		Clean Energy Act	
Period	Pre	Post	Pre	Post
Intercept	25.88* (11.35)	-26.74 (34.60)	-26.74 (34.60)	N/A
Time (Years)	6.43 (4.95)	31.3* (8.97)	31.3* (8.97)	N/A
Adjusted R ²	0.18	0.74	0.74	N/A
Degrees of Freedom	2	3	3	N/A
Ν	4	5	5	N/A
Comparative P-value	0.015**		N/	A

Figure 7 illustrates how the Solar Act of 2012 and Clean Energy Act affected solar capacity in New Jersey's residential sector. Table 9 reports results after a segmented linear regression was performed on each Act. The Solar Act of 2012 significantly increased the rate of solar capacity growth compared to the pre-policy period ($\beta = 6.4$ vs. 31.3, p = 0.015). The Clean Energy Act was unable to be analyzed due to insufficient post-policy data. Degrees of freedom were low due to a data constraint from residential sector data being reported annually.

New Jersey

Industrial Sector

A chi-square test of independence was performed to examine the relation between industrial solar PV production and timeframe (pre- versus post-policy; see Table 10). The relation between these variables was significant, $X^2 (1, N = 121) = 22.14$, p < 0.001. The industrial sector was more likely to produce solar electricity rounding to 1 thousand MWh in a month after the Clean Energy Act was in effect compared to a month before the policy existed.

	Production	No Production	
Pre-policy	16	85	
Post-policy	13	7	
Chi-square 22.14			
Degrees of freedom		1	
P-value		< 0.001	

Table 10 - Contingency table for Clean Energy Act (New Jersey's industrial sector)

Commercial Sector

Pennsylvania Commercial Sector



Figure 8 – Segmented linear regression of solar electricity generation in Pennsylvania's commercial sector.

	Sunshine Program		Net Meter	ing Policy
Period	Pre	Post	Pre	Post
Intercept	-0.16 (0.29)	2.52 (1.68)	2.52 (1.68)	3.82 (3.03)
Time (Months)	0.09*** (0.01)	0.03 (0.02)	0.03 (0.02)	0.02 (0.01)
Adjusted R ²	0.64	0.12	0.12	0.09
Degrees of Freedom	46	36	36	32
N	48	38	38	34
Comparative P-value	0.013**		0.6	84

Table 11 - Segmented linear regression slopes and comparative p-value of pre-slope versus post-slope (Pennsylvania's commercial sector). $(p < .10)^*$ $(p < .05)^{**}$ $(p < .01)^{***}$

Table 12 - Segmented multiple regression slopes, summary statistics, and comparative p-value(Pennsylvania commercial sector – Sunshine Program). $(p < .10)^*$ $(p < .05)^{**}$ $(p < .01)^{***}$

	Pre-policy	Post-policy
Intercept	3.32 (4.89)	-5.33 (7.46)
Time (Months)	0.16*** (0.05)	0.10** (0.03)
Elect.Price	0.23 (0.19)	0.87** (0.29)
Energy.CPI	-0.02 (0.02)	-0.03* (0.02)
PV.Price.Com	-0.26 (0.32)	0.66* (0.80)
Adjusted R ²	0.49	0.29
Degrees of Freedom	43	38
Ν	48	43
Comparative P-value	0.382	

A holistic view illustrating how policy affected solar generated electricity is achieved by analyzing Figure 8. Table 11 reports the results of a segmented linear regression performed on both the elimination of the Sunshine Program and Net Metering Policy. The Sunshine Program coming to an end significantly decreased the rate of solar production compared to the pre-policy period ($\beta = 0.097$ vs. 0.031, p = 0.013). A segmented multiple regression was performed to further analyze the effect of the Sunshine Program ending (see Table 12). The decrease in commercial solar electricity production after the Sunshine Program ended was not significant (p = 0.382).



Figure 9 – ARIMA forecast predicting solar electricity generation had the Sunshine Program continued (Pennsylvania's commercial sector).

Best Fit Model	ARIMA(2, 0, 2)	
Control Variables	Elect.Price & Energy.CPI	
MAE	0.443	
MASE	1.006	

Table 13 - Components and summary statistics for the Sunshine Program ARIMA forecast model (Pennsylvania's commercial sector).

An ARIMA model (see Figure 9) was tasked to predict how solar generated electricity would have changed if the Sunshine Program had continued. The forecast suggests there would have been no immediate effect on solar electricity production in the commercial sector, although, over time electricity production would have likely been higher than the observed data. Summary statistics (see Table 13) MAE (0.443) and MASE (1.006) both reflect a moderately accurate ARIMA model. Analysis of the ARIMA forecast was consistent with the segmented linear and multiple regression results (see Table 11 & 12).

Pennsylvania's

Residential Sector

Pennsylvania Residential Sector



Figure 10 – Segmented linear regression of solar capacity in Pennsylvania's residential sector.

	Sunshine Program		Net Meter	ing Policy
Period	Pre	Post	Pre	Post
Intercept	19.44* (3.73)	-96.38 (21.13)	-96.38 (21.13)	68.04 (18.29)
Time (Years)	-3 (1.28)	17.4 (3.89)	17.4 (3.89)	-2.1 (4.24)
Adjusted R ²	0.53	0.86	0.86	0.11
Degrees of Freedom	3	2	2	1
Ν	5	4	4	3
Comparative P-value	< 0.001***		0.05	53*

Table 14 - Segmented linear regression slopes and comparative p-value of pre-slope versus post-slope (Pennsylvania's residential sector). $(p < .10)^*$ $(p < .05)^{**}$ $(p < .01)^{***}$

Figure 10 illustrates how the Net Metering Policy and Sunshine Program ending affected solar capacity in Pennsylvania's residential sector. Table 14 reports results of the segmented linear regressions performed on both policies. The Sunshine Program ending significantly increased the rate of solar capacity growth compared to the pre-policy period (β = -3 vs. 17.4, *p* = <0.001). The Net Metering Policy significantly decreased the rate of solar capacity growth compared to the pre-policy period (β = 17.4 vs. -2.1, *p* = 0.053). Degrees of freedom were low due to a data constraint from residential sector data being reported annually.

Pennsylvania

Industrial Sector

A chi-square test of independence was performed to examine the relation between industrial PV production and timeframe (pre- versus post-Sunshine Program; see Table 15). The relation between these variables was significant, $X^2 (1, N = 83) = 12.17$, p < 0.001. The industrial sector was more likely to produce solar electricity rounding to 1 thousand MWh in a month after the Sunshine Program was in effect compared to a month before the program existed.

Table 15 - Contingency table for the Sunshine Program (Pennsylvania's industrial sector).

	Production	No Production
Pre-policy	20	29
Post-policy	27	7
Chi-square		12.17
Degrees of freedom		1
P-value		< 0.001

A chi-square test of independence was performed to examine the relation between industrial PV production and timeframe (pre- versus post-Net Metering Policy; see Table 16). The relation between these variables was not significant, $X^2 (1, N = 74) = 0.85$, p = 0.36. The industrial sector was no more likely to produce solar electricity rounding to 1 thousand MWh in a month after the Net Metering Policy was in effect compared to a month before the program existed.

	Production	No Production
Pre-policy	27	7
Post-policy	28	12
Chi-square 0.85		
Degrees of freedom		1
P-value		0.36

Table 16 - Contingency table for the Net Metering Policy (Pennsylvania's industrial sector).

Nevada

Commercial Sector



Nevada Commercial Sector

Figure 11 – Segmented linear regression of solar electricity generation in Nevada's commercial sector.

	A.B.	. 428	Net Metering Policy		
Period	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	
Intercept	5.62 (3.83)	-113.63*** (29.33)	-113.63*** (29.33)	39.83 (88.63)	
Time (Months)	1.25*** (0.16)	3.78*** (0.49)	3.78*** (0.49)	3.19*** (1.05)	
Adjusted R ²	0.61	0.64	0.64	0.15	
Degrees of Freedom	40	32	32	42	
Ν	42	34 34		44	
Comparative P-value	< 0.001*** 0.61			51	

Table 17 - Segmented linear regression slopes and comparative p-value of pre-slope versus post-slope (Nevada's commercial sector). (p < .10)*(p < .05)**(p < .01)***

Table 18 - Segmented multiple regression slopes, summary statistics, and Comparative P-value (Nevada's commercial sector – A.B. 428). Only data from month 1 -73 was used to avoid effects from the Net Metering Policy (p < .10)* (p < .05)** (p < .01)***

	Pre-policy	Post-policy		
Intercept	-54.35	-155.21		
	(41.64)	(1/1.94)		
Time	1.15	2.72***		
(Months)	(0.60)	(1.37)		
Floot Drico	8.09**	13.58*		
Elect.Price	(2.18)	(5.29)		
Enorgy CDI	-0.44***	-0.19		
Energy.CP1	(0.16)	(0.41)		
DV Price Com	-2.86	-8.68		
PV.Price.Com	(3.35)	(13.11)		
Adjusted R ²	0.72	0.70		
Degrees of Freedom	37	26		
N	42	31		
Comparative P-value	0.17			

A holistic view illustrating how RPS policy modifications affected solar generated electricity is achieved by analyzing Figure 11. Table 17 reports results of segmented linear regressions ran on A.B. 428 and the Net Metering Policy modification. A.B. 428 significantly increased the rate of solar electricity production compared to the pre-policy period ($\beta = 1.25$ vs. 3.78, p = < 0.001). The Net Metering Policy modification reported a non-significant change in solar electricity production compared to the pre-policy period ($\beta = 3.78$ vs. 3.19, p = 0.61), although, a substantial level change occurred once the policy began. A segmented multiple regression was performed to further analyze the effect of A.B. 428 on solar electricity production (see Table 18). The increase of commercial solar electricity production after A.B. 428 approached moderate significance (p = 0.17)



Figure 12 – ARIMA forecast predicting solar electricity generation had A.B. 428 not occurred (Nevada's commercial sector).

Best Fit Model	ARIMA(2, 0, 1)
Control Variables	Elect.Price & Energy.CPI
MAE	4.42
MASE	0.75

Table 19 - Components and summary statistics for A.B. 428 ARIMA forecast model (Nevada's commercial sector).

An ARIMA model (see Figure 12) was tasked to predict how solar generated electricity would have changed if A.B. 428 had not been implemented. The forecast indicated no immediate effect on solar electricity production, while displaying a decrease in production after the first year (compared to the observed data). Summary statistics (see Table 19) MAE (4.42) and MASE (0.75) both reflect an accurate ARIMA model. Analysis of the ARIMA forecast was consistent with the segmented linear regression results (see Table 17) and moderately consistent with the segmented multiple regression results (see Table 18). Suggesting A.B. 428 had a significant and positive effect on solar electricity production in Nevada's commercial sector.

Nevada

Residential Sector



Nevada Residential Sector

Figure 13 – Segmented linear regression of solar capacity in Nevada's residential sector.

	A.B.	. 428	Net Metering Policy		
Period	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	
Intercept	5*** (0)	-65.61 (22.72)	-65.61 (22.72)	13.56 (32.4)	
Time (Years)	0 (0)	22.3 (13.89)	22.3 (13.89)	18.6 (14.16)	
Adjusted R ²	N/A	0.34	0.34	0.49	
Degrees of Freedom	2	2	2	2	
N	4	4	4	4	
Comparative P-value	0.0)9*	0.76		

Table 20 - Segmented linear regression slopes and comparative p-value of pre-slope versus post-slope (Nevada's residential sector). $(p < .10)^*$ $(p < .05)^{**}$ $(p < .01)^{***}$

Figure 13 illustrates how A.B. 428 and the Net Metering Policy modification affected solar capacity in Nevada's residential sector. Table 20 reports the results of segmented linear regressions ran on both policies. A.B. 428 significantly increased the rate of solar capacity growth compared to the pre-policy period ($\beta = 0$ vs. 22.3, p = 0.09). The Net Metering Policy modification non-significantly decreased the rate of solar capacity growth compared to the pre-policy period ($\beta = 0$ vs. 22.3, p = 0.09). The Net Metering Policy modification non-significantly decreased the rate of solar capacity growth compared to the pre-policy period ($\beta = 0.76$). Degrees of freedom were low due to a data constraint from residential sector data being reported annually.

Florida

Commercial Sector



Figure 14 – Data and linear regression of solar electricity production in Florida's commercial sector.

Figure 14 illustrates an overview of solar electricity production in Florida's commercial sector. The black line represents the data points while the gray line represents a linear regression line. Graphical analysis (see Figure 14) indicated minimal growth took place from 2010 to 2017, with a significant increase at the end of 2017. Further discussion of Florida is outlined in the discussion section.

Florida

Residential Sector



Florida

Figure 15 – Data and linear regression of solar capacity in Florida's residential sector.

Figure 15 illustrates an overview of solar electricity production in Florida's residential sector. The black line represents the data points while the gray line represents a linear regression line. Graphical analysis (see Figure 15) indicated marginal growth took place from 2010 to 2016, with a significant increase in 2016 that continued through 2019.

Summary of Results

	MA		NJ		РА			NV		
	Com	Res	Com	Res	Ind	Com	Res	Ind	Com	Res
SREC II										
Carve-out Min										
Smart Policy										
Solar Act										
Clean Energy Act										
Sunshine Program										
Net Metering Policy (PA)										
A.B. 428										
Net Metering Policy (NV)										

Table 21 - Summary of results denoted by solar growth level.



Case Studies

As stated earlier, case studies were performed on the state that demonstrated the least benefit and the state that demonstrated the greatest benefit to the residential sector regarding solar growth. These exploratory case studies explain the causal links associated between RPS policy design and solar electricity capacity in the residential sector. Of the states analyzed, Pennsylvania's residential sector displayed the least growth in solar capacity while New Jersey displayed the most growth. Case studies, framed around supposition, were conducted to develop a better understanding of the structure of these states' RPSs and supplement the lack of quantitative data available for the residential sector

Case Study 1 - Pennsylvania

Solar capacity growth in the residential sector was the lowest when comparing Pennsylvania to the other states analyzed in this research. While the lowest growth occurred in Pennsylvania, moderate growth still took place. Establishing reasoning for why growth was subpar was accomplished through the analysis of Pennsylvania's RPS structure, components, and compliance requirements.

Background

Pennsylvania adopted its RPS in November of 2004 to increase electricity production from renewables (DSIRE 2018). The RPS included a net metering policy and the Alternative Energy Portfolio Standard (AEPS). The AEPS required 18.5% of electricity generation come from alternative sources by 2020 (ibid.). In addition to the AEPS, a carve-out was established that categorized sources as tiers. Tier 1 included sources such as solar PV, wind, geothermal, and low-impact hydro, while Tier 2 included waste coal, large-scale hydro, biomass, and wood pulping (ibid.). A PV Tier was also established, exclusively applying to solar PV electricity generation (ibid.). By 2021, Tier 1 was to account for 8% electricity production, Tier 2 was to account for 10%, and the PV Tier was to account for 0.5% (ibid.).

Pennsylvania's RPS and its components have remained relatively unchanged since their adoption in 2004. That said, a substantial net metering policy modification was added to their RPS in late 2016 (DSIRE 2018). This policy modification introduced net metering aggregation, expanded the systems eligible for net metering, and required utilities to offer net metering to more customers through raising the eligibility cap (DSIRE 2021). The Sunshine Program contributed to solar capacity growth in Pennsylvania but is considered separate from their RPS. The Sunshine Program began in 2008 and ended in December of 2013, using rebates and SRECs to help reduce the cost burden of solar (Althoff et al. 2018). This program coming to an end substantially decreased the price of SRECs from over \$300 to less than \$20 per credit (Althoff et al. 2018).

Evaluation

Supplementing solar capacity data with RPS policy information allowed for more confident conclusions to be cast on why solar growth in Pennsylvania's residential sector was sub-par. Quantitative data illustrated an initial decrease in residential solar capacity once the Sunshine Program came to an end. This finding was congruent with the qualitative analysis above, stating the end of the Sunshine Program caused rebates to halt and SREC prices to fall. A substantial decrease in SREC prices and the elimination of solar rebates (corresponding to the Sunshine Program ending) may have contributed to lower solar capacity growth. The association between a decrease in financial assistance and relatively low growth is portrayed as a determining factor for solar capacity in the residential sector. When analyzing the effect of the net metering policy modification on solar capacity the conclusions were more implicit. The recency of this policy modification made it difficult to fully analyze its effect. The quantitative data available was limited after the modification was put into effect, only allowing for two years of capacity data after the modification began. This was not enough data to formulate conclusions regarding the effectiveness of the policy. While lack of quantitative data impeded the ability to evaluate the modification, qualitative data acted in filling the gaps in the analysis.

Examining the net metering policy modification compliance information unearthed factors that suggest it had a modest effect on solar capacity in the residential sector. First, the aggregate net metering component of the modification favored businesses and those with multiple buildings and electric meters under one account (DSIRE 2021). These characteristics are unrepresentative of the residential sector and likely had a minimal effect. Second, the policy modification did not require all electricity providers to offer net metering to their residential customers (DSIRE 2021). Limiting the reach and installing a cap on net metering may have restrained the policy modifications potential and restricted the quantity of individuals who could participate. Due to these factors, it can be inferred that the net metering policy modification had a modest effect on solar capacity in the residential sector. The policy modification appeared to be suited toward the commercial sector and did not directly address the residential sector.

Case Study 2 - New Jersey

Solar capacity growth in the residential sector was the highest in New Jersey when compared to the other states analyzed in this research. Establishing reasoning for why growth was highest was accomplished through the analysis of New Jersey's RPS structure, components, and compliance requirements.

Background

New Jersey's RPS was adopted in 1999 and has undergone multiple updates since its start (DSIRE 2019). The RPS percentage requirement in New Jersey was found to be very dynamic, with changes occurring in 2004, 2006, 2010, and 2018 (ibid.). As of 2018, New Jersey's RPS percentage requirement was set to 35% by 2025 (ibid.). This recent percentage requirement update was supported by a series of policies that fall under the RPS umbrella. New Jersey's carve-out was one of these policies and categorized renewable energy sources into classes (ibid.). Class I included any electricity derived from solar PV, wind, tidal action, geothermal, landfill gas, or anaerobic digestion (ibid.). Class II was large scale and only included electricity generated from hydroelectric facilities of 3MW or less (ibid.). The carve-out percentage requirement for Class I has remained very dynamic and steadily increased from 0.74% in 2005 to 21% in 2021 (ibid.). Conversely, the Class II percentage requirement has remained unchanged since 2005, staying fixed at 2.5% (ibid.). In addition to the carve-out, a solar carve-out was established in 2005 and required a specific annual percentage of solar generated electricity (ibid.). The percentage requirement in the solar carve-out followed the same dynamic structure as the Class I carve-out. Solar carve-out percentage requirements have increased from 0.01% in 2005 to 5.1% in 2021 (ibid.).

55

In addition to the solar carve-out, net metering and SRECs were included in New Jersey's RPS to contribute to the percentage requirement (ibid.). Like the dynamic percentage requirements observed in the solar carve-out, net metering and SRECs have also undergone an array of changes over the past ten years. State policies such as the Solar Act of 2012 and Clean Energy Act have worked in amending RPS policy components (ibid.).

Evaluation

The Solar Act was not included under the RPS umbrella but significantly impacted the existing solar carve-out and net metering policy (Solar Act 2012). This Act increased the solar carve-out requirement to 4.1% by 2028 (although later increased), modified net metering to include aggregation, and amended components of the RPS to improve interconnection standards and increase renewable energy financing (Solar Act 2012). The changes caused by the Solar Act were pivotal in generating solar capacity growth in the residential sector. It can be inferred that the Solar Act positively impacted solar capacity in the residential sector due to it directly affecting policies that drive solar installation. This inference agrees with quantitative data analysis from New Jersey's residential sector which portrayed a statistically significant increase in solar capacity after the Solar Act began.

New Jersey passed the Clean Energy Act in 2018 (Clean Energy Act 2018). The Clean Energy Act accelerated the total carve-out requirement to 5.1% and created a trigger to shutdown New Jersey's SREC program once the requirement was met (Clean Energy Act 2018). The requirement was met in April 2020, setting off the trigger and closing the SREC program (DEP 2021). In addition, the Clean Energy Act increased New Jersey's RPS percentage requirement to 35% by 2025 and established a Community Solar Energy Pilot Program that allowed utility

customers to engage in solar projects remotely located from their property (Clean Energy Act 2018).

It can be inferred that the Clean Energy Act had an initial positive impact on solar capacity due to the 5.1% carve-out requirement being met early. Quantitative data for New Jersey's residential sector was insufficient in that it only provided data for one year after the policy was implemented, making analysis trivial. Therefore, qualitative analysis was utilized to understand the Clean Energy Act's effect on solar capacity in New Jersey's residential sector. The creation of the Community Solar Energy Pilot Program may have increased solar capacity in the residential sector through increased eligibility and participation in community solar. Assumptions on how solar capacity was affected by the elimination of the SREC program were formulated by referencing other states. For instance, Pennsylvania eliminated its SREC program and observed modest solar capacity growth in the subsequent years (Althoff et al. 2018). If this same effect is seen in New Jersey, it may counteract the benefits from the Community Solar Energy Pilot Program and generate minimal solar capacity growth in the future.

Comparative Study

There were a host of differences in RPS design when comparing Pennsylvania and New Jersey. Variation in structure, components, and compliance requirements encompass the variability present in RPSs. Comparing Pennsylvania's RPS to New Jersey's revealed stark differences in the quantity of percentage requirement modifications. Pennsylvania's RPS utilized a fixed percentage requirement for its carve-out and AEPS, while New Jersey's took a variable approach with dynamic solar carve-out requirements and an RPS percentage requirement that has been increased four times since its start. In addition, both states' RPS included a policy modification that eliminated its SREC program. Pennsylvania eliminated its SREC program in 2013, after only five years, while New Jersey shut down its program in 2020, after 21 years (DSIRE 2021). Differences regarding financial assistance (rebates, financing, tax credits) were also apparent, with New Jersey offering much more financial assistance than Pennsylvania. Lastly, net metering eligibility was more universal and inclusive in New Jersey, while Pennsylvania's net metering policies were rather ineffective and appeared to be designed around the commercial sector.

Discussion

Past research provides information on RPS effectiveness, policy implications, and RPSs' role in electricity production, although they fail to consider non-utility sectors when looking at solar electricity generation and capacity (Upton et al. 2017, Davies 2014, Zhou et al. 2020). This paper addressed which non-utility sectors benefitted most, measured in solar growth, from differing state-level RPS policies. Analyzing policy effectiveness was achieved using segmented linear regression, segmented multiple regression, ARIMA forecast models, chi-square tests, and a pair of exploratory case studies.

Key Findings

Data analysis of RPS policies indicated the commercial sector had the greatest response to RPS policies when compared to the residential and industrial sectors. Specifically, policies regarding net metering, aggregate net metering, and SRECs saw positive responses in the commercial sector. In addition, the commercial sector experienced the highest-level of solar electricity growth since 2010 when compared to the other sectors. Conclusions regarding the residential sector come from quantitative and qualitative analyses. Quantitative analysis found the residential sector had the greatest response (in terms of solar capacity) to financial assistance and rebates granted through state programs targeted to amend their RPS. The industrial sector potentially exhibited some response to RPS policies, with the Clean Energy Act in New Jersey and the Sunshine Program in Pennsylvania co-occurring with solar electricity growth. However, the association between policy inception and industrial electricity production is tenuous due to limitations surrounding industrial sector data and analysis.

Interpretation of Results

The first objective of this research was to understand RPS policy design and its spillover effect on non-utility sectors. Pennsylvania and New Jersey's RPSs were quantitative and qualitatively analyzed to fully understand each RPS in detail. The design of each RPS was found to differ considerably from the other, consistent with findings of past research (Yin et al. 2011, Ogundrinde et al. 2018). Qualitative analysis revealed variation in structure, components, eligibility, and compliance requirements when the two states' RPSs were compared.

RPS policies were found to have a considerable spillover effect on non-utility sectors, especially the commercial sector. However, the relative size of non-utility sector electricity generation was small compared to total electricity consumption per state. This implies that the policies analyzed had a positive effect on non-utility sectors but that this spillover had little effect on the total solar PV electricity production per state. Therefore, the magnitude of these spillover effects was thought to be limited.

Policies regarding net metering and SRECs were found to increase solar electricity production in the commercial sector. Solar electricity production significantly increased in New Jersey and Nevada after a net metering policy, or policy with a notable net metering component (see Appendix B) occurred. The residential sector displayed significant increases in solar capacity growth after financial assistance and rebates were established. State Acts and Programs (see Appendix B) were responsible for granting the financial assistance and rebates and were found to be most effective at increasing solar capacity in the residential sector. These Acts and Programs remain separate from RPSs, indicating the RPS specific policies and modifications analyzed in this research only caused non-significant increases in solar capacity in the residential sector and had a minimal spillover effect. Analysis indicated that the industrial sector's solar electricity production did increase concurrently with the institution of certain RPS policies and modifications, specifically the Clean Energy Act (New Jersey) and Sunshine Program (Pennsylvania). However, limitation in both the precision of the electricity production data and of the capacity of chi-square analysis to control for confounding factors (e.g., the price of solar panels or of natural gas) mean that changes in the industrial sector cannot be attributed to acts of policy alone.

The second objective of this research was to develop recommendations to increase solar production to help future researchers studying RPSs and renewable energy policies establish better suited policy decisions. Recommendations were based on qualitative and quantitative analyses that examined individual policy effectiveness and ability to increase solar capacity and electricity production. Below is list of recommendations formulated by the findings of this research.

- 1. Develop a net metering policy
- 2. Allow aggregate net metering
- 3. Maintain a healthy SREC market
- 4. Structure a solar carve-out with dynamic percentage requirements
- 5. Supplement an RPS with state acts and programs
- 6. Offer multiple sources of financial assistance

The majority of recommendations given above apply to each sector. Certain recommendations, such as offering multiple sources of financial assistance and supplementing an RPS with state Acts and Programs were found to significantly increase solar capacity in the residential sector but only showed a moderate effect in the other sectors. Although these recommendations only displayed significant results in one sector, they were still included as they had a positive yet non-significant effect on solar electricity production in one or more of the other sectors.

The first sub-objective in this research was to determine which specific RPS policies provided the most solar growth among each sector. Identifying which RPS policies provided solar growth was achieved through quantitative analysis. Net metering and policies closely related (see Appendix B) were found to have significantly increased solar electricity production in the commercial sector. Compared to other policies analyzed in the commercial sector, net metering policies outpaced other RPS policies regarding solar growth.

Surprisingly, the specific RPS policies analyzed in the residential sector were associated with non-significant solar growth. No policy (or policy modification) under an RPS was found to provide any significant solar growth. State Acts and Programs (see Appendix B) were identified
as the only interventions to increase solar growth in the residential sector. Specifically, the Solar Act of 2012 in New Jersey, the Sunshine Program in Pennsylvania, and A.B. 428 in Nevada provided significant solar growth in the residential sector.

Like the residential sector, quantitative analysis indicated the industrial sector experienced non-significant growth when analyzing specific RPS policies and modifications. The Clean Energy Act (New Jersey) and Sunshine Program (Pennsylvania) were the only interventions to significantly increase solar growth in the industrial sector. Policies under the RPS umbrella displayed non-significant solar growth, highlighting a weak spillover effect and a lack of policies that stimulate the industrial sector.

The second sub-objective was to develop an understanding of which sectors (commercial, industrial, residential) were affected the most in terms of solar growth from RPS policies. Quantitative data analysis identified the commercial sector experienced the most growth of the sectors analyzed. The residential and industrial sectors both displayed very minor growth when compared to the commercial sector. That said, the residential sector experienced higher solar growth than the industrial sector. One explanation for why the commercial sector experienced the highest level of solar growth stems back to the design and policy components of an RPS. Multiple variations in RPS policy design were identified earlier when discussing the first objective. Past research found variations in policy design and stringency can influence the effectiveness of an RPS (Yin et al. 2011, Ogundrinde et al. 2018). Findings in past research and conclusions cast in this research both point to variations in RPS policy design influencing RPS effectiveness, indicating that variation in RPS policy design contributed to stark differences in sectoral solar growth.

62

Additional explanations unrelated to RPSs and other renewable energy policies may have contributed to differences in solar growth among each sector. Although, these explanations are not discussed due to them being outside the scope of this research. Future research should identify additional explanations to better understand variations in sectoral solar growth.

The last sub-objective was to draw conclusions regarding why RPS policies benefitted certain sectors more than others. Potential reasoning for why particular policies impacted certain sectors more than others include differences in eligibility, the status of other policies, and specific design choices. Differences in eligibility can influence the number of individuals who qualify for a given policy, limiting the policy's potential. Qualitative analysis determined net metering eligibility was a notable factor when policies in New Jersey and Pennsylvania's were compared. Other policies and their intention, reach, and stringency may have been a factor in sectoral solar growth, leading to different levels of solar growth in each sector. Lastly, specific policy design choices may have influenced a given policy's effectiveness and impacted which sectors exhibited differing levels of solar growth.

Comparison State – Florida

Florida was selected to compare to the states analyzed in this research. A significant increase in solar growth in Florida's commercial and residential sectors was observed in 2017. However, there were no major renewable energy regulatory policies that occurred at that time. Although, multiple state incentives and tax exemptions coupled with the third lowest solar PV module cost in the nation was inferred to have significantly influenced solar growth (DSIRE 2021, Marsh 2021). In addition, Florida has some of the highest solar irradiance in the nation along with a higher population than every state included in this research, yet it only generated

nearly half of the solar generated electricity of Nevada and New Jersey (NREL 2018, Census 2020). High solar potential coupled with a large population would likely be associated with high levels of solar growth. However, solar growth in Florida was modest compared to the other states analyzed, suggesting that Florida would have likely experienced higher solar growth if an RPS policy had been implemented.

Comparison with Previous Research

The interpretation displayed similar and contrasting findings to conclusions published in past research. RPS stringency and subsidies were found to have a significant and positive impact on renewable energy development (Yin et al. 2010). Quantitative and qualitative analysis performed on the residential sector found a similar result. An association between financial assistance and increases in solar capacity was inferred from these analyses. However, past research found that RPSs impact on electricity generation was insignificant when comparing states who have adopted an RPS to states who have not (Upton et al. 2017). While some specific RPS policies were ineffective at increasing solar generated electricity, others were effective. In addition, growth in three of the four commercial sectors analyzed (Massachusetts, New Jersey, and Nevada) displayed nearly double the solar generated electricity of Florida (no RPS). Lastly, a conclusion formulated by Ogundrinde et al. (2018) that the introduction of SRECs make RPSs less effective was observed in this research. While this finding was parallel with analysis of the residential sector, the opposite effect was seen in the commercial sector.

Limitations and Future Research Opportunities

There were multiple limitations in this research that constrained the ability to analyze certain sectors and policies. Limitations regarding solar capacity data made for weak linear regressions and multiple regressions that were impossible to effectively perform. This was due to issues regarding degrees of freedom resulting from residential data being reported annually rather than monthly. These data limitations should be addressed by future research through looking at the data through a panel (rather than each state individually) and including dichotomous variables (rather than segmenting the data). Together, these changes would increase the number of observations and potentially address some of the limitations.

Data limitations also impacted policy analysis in the industrial sector because postintervention data was insufficient to analyze the effect of the policy. In addition, industrial sector data, as reported by the EIA, was insufficiently variable to permit analysis by regression. Because industrial output is relatively small, the quality of the industrial data did not fully capture changes in the sector and made it difficult to analyze using the methods that were used in the other sectors.

The relationship of time was inconsistent across all data, meaning some of the data did not have a linear relationship with time. This inconsistency was a limitation that could be overcome in future research through additional statistical models and processes. A population control was not included, limiting each model's ability to account for population changes over time. Future analysis should include a population control in each model as well as monthly fixed effects in order to incorporate seasonality into the regression models. In addition, running full regressions when time itself was not significant should be avoided in order for accurate models to be formulated. Limitations regarding proximity of policies made it difficult to confidently differentiate one policy's effectiveness from another. An increase in data observations would likely work in addressing this limitation. Federal policies were not included in this research due to state-level policies being the focus, therefore, the effects of federal policies were not analyzed. This limitation could be addressed in the future through the inclusion of policies like the Clean Power Plan, with state policy interaction terms to measure a policy's effect on solar electricity generation. Subtle but substantial changes to the models and data would create stronger models that offer increased accuracy in results and clarify conclusions.

Future research should work in filling gaps where certain policies could not be fully analyzed due to data limitations. In addition, developing a statistical model that incorporates the same sector from multiple states would allow for conclusions to be cast on what factors or events impacted states differently. Research should focus on creating stronger models that utilize quality data to formulate the most accurate conclusions. Lastly, future research should further analyze the industrial sector to formulate more confident conclusions, explore why solar electricity generation was so limited, and investigate how states can tailor their RPS policies to increase generation in this sector.

Conclusion

This research was developed to formulate conclusions regarding which non-utility sectors were most impacted by differing state-level RPS policies, as measured by solar electricity generation and capacity growth. Analysis indicated the commercial sector demonstrated the highest solar growth when compared to the residential and industrial sectors. The commercial sector was also found to have benefitted the most from differing RPS policy modifications, with more modifications showing statistically significant effects on growth than either of the other sectors. When looking at the effectiveness of certain RPS policy modifications, net metering, aggregate net metering, and SRECs demonstrated statistically significant effects on solar electricity growth in the commercial sector. The industrial sector displayed no growth in response to RPS policy modifications, commonly displaying a slight negative effect on solar electricity growth. However, the industrial sector did experience growth after the inception of the Clean Energy Act in New Jersey and Sunshine Program in Pennsylvania (not grouped under the RPS). Recommendations to increase residential solar capacity growth were drawn from case studies. These include establishing a dynamic RPS percentage requirement; maintaining a healthy SREC market; structuring a solar carve-out with dynamic percentage requirements; offering multiple sources of financial assistance to burden installation costs; and requiring all electricity providers to offer net metering.

The implications of these findings can influence future policy decisions regarding RPSs and renewable energy. Policy makers looking to maximize the benefit of RPSs by way of spillover might want to look at including net metering, aggregate net metering, dynamic percentage requirements, and SRECs in their future policy designs. Conclusions and recommendations, backed by evidence, can help in guiding policy design and gearing policies toward sectors where solar growth is limited. The structure of this research can be applied to other renewable energy sources to further analyze the effect of policy.

References

- Ahima, R. S. (2020, February 3). Global Warming Threatens Human Thermoregulation and Survival. The Journal of Clinical Investigation. https://www.jci.org/articles/view/135006.
- Althoff, D., & Altenburg, R. (2021, January 10). *Pennsylvania's Solar Future Plan*. https://files.dep.state.pa.us/Energy/Office%20of%20Energy%20and%20Technology/OET DPortalFiles/Pollution%20prevention%20and%20Energy%20assiatance/SolarFuture/Penn sylvania's%20Solar%20Future%20Plan.pdf.
- Bhandari, P. (2021, October 20). *Methodology: Control Variables Explained*. Scribbr. Retrieved 2021, from https://www.scribbr.com/methodology/control-variable/.
- Carley, S. (2009, May 2). State renewable energy electricity policies: An empirical evaluation of effectiveness. Energy Policy.

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0301421509002250.

- Clean Energy Act of 2018. (2018, May). A.B. 3723 Clean Energy Act of 2018. Retrieved 2021, from https://www.njleg.state.nj.us/2018/Bills/AL18/17_.PDF.
- Clogg, C. C., Petkova, E., & Haritou, A. (1995). Statistical Methods for Comparing Regression Coefficients Between Models. *American Journal of Sociology*, 100(5), 1261–1293. http://www.jstor.org/stable/2782277

Corfee-Morlot, J., Westphal, M. I., & Spiegel, R. (2019, January 15). *4 Ways to Shift from Fossil Fuels to Clean Energy*. World Resources Institute. https://www.wri.org/insights/4-ways-shift-fossil-fuels-clean-energy.

- Davies, L. (2014, February). Evaluating RPS Policy Design: Metrics, Gaps, Best Practices, and Paths to Innovation. Social Science Research Network. https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=2554652.
- Davies, L., & Carley, S. (2017, February). Emerging Shadows in National Solar Policy? Nevada's Net Metering Transition in Context. Retrieved 2021, from https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/217370203.pdf.
- Delmas, M. A., & Montes-Sancho, M. J. (2011, March 17). U.S. state policies for renewable energy: Context and effectiveness. Energy Policy. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0301421511000449.
- DEP. (2021). *New Jersey's Clean Air Picture*. NJ DEP Air Quality, Energy & Sustainability. Retrieved 2021, from https://www.nj.gov/dep/aqes/opea-clean-energy.html.
- Dincer, O., Payne, J. E., & Simkins, K. (2014). Are state renewable portfolio standards contagious? *American Journal of Economics and Sociology*, 73(2), 325–340. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajes.12073
- DOER, 2017. (2017). *Solar Massachusetts Renewable Target (SMART)*. Retrieved 2021, from https://www.mass.gov/files/documents/2017/04/zl/3-24-17-solar-massachusetts-renewable-target-slides.pdf.

- DSIRE. (2018, July). *Alternative Energy Portfolio Standard*. Database of State Incentives for Renewables & Efficiency. Retrieved 2021, from https://programs.dsireusa.org/system/program/detail/262.
- DSIRE. (2018). New Jersey's Renewable Portfolio Standard. Retrieved 2021, from https://programs.dsireusa.org/system/program/detail/564.
- DSIRE. (2021). *State Policies and Incentives*. Database of State Incentives for Renewables & Efficiency. https://programs.dsireusa.org/system/program.
- DSIRE. (2021). *Pennsylvania Net Metering*. Database of State Incentives for Renewables and Efficiency . Retrieved 2021, from https://programs.dsireusa.org/system/program/detail/65.
- EIA. (2019, November 18). Renewable Energy Explained Portfolio Standards. U.S. Energy Information Administration (EIA). https://www.eia.gov/energyexplained/renewablesources/portfolio-standards.php.
- EIA. (2020, August). U.S. Energy Information Administration Independent Statistics and Analysis. Where Greenhouse Gases Come From. https://www.eia.gov/energyexplained/energy-and-the-environment/where-greenhousegases-comefrom.php#:~:text=When%20fossil%20fuels%20are%20combusted,which%20we%20use%

20for%20energy.&text=For%20example%2C%20for%20the%20same,CO2%20produced %20by%20burning%20coal.

- EIA. (2020, September 16). U.S. Energy Information Administration Independent Statistics and Analysis. Average U.S. construction costs for solar and wind generation continue to fall. https://www.eia.gov/todayinenergy/detail.php?id=45136#:~:text=From%202013%20to%2 02018%2C%20costs,the%20United%20States%20in%202018.
- EIA. (2020). *Form EIA-860*. Energy Information Administration (EIA). https://www.eia.gov/electricity/data/eia860/.
- EIA. (2020). U.S. Energy Information Administration EIA independent statistics and analysis.
 Use of Energy in Industry U.S. Energy Information Administration (EIA). Retrieved
 2021, from https://www.eia.gov/energyexplained/use-of-energy/industry.php.
- EIA. (2021). *Electricity Data Browser*. Energy Information Administration (EIA). https://www.eia.gov/electricity/data/browser/#/topic/0?agg=1,0,2&fuel=004&geo=qnifi05c 03j78&sec=o3g&linechart=ELEC.GEN.SUN-US-99.M~ELEC.GEN.SUN-NV-99.M~ELEC.GEN.SUN-CA-99.M&columnchart=ELEC.GEN.SUN-US-99.M~ELEC.GEN.SUN-NV-99.M~ELEC.GEN.SUN-CA-99.M&map=ELEC.GEN.SUN-US-99.M&freq=M&start=2001&end=2020&ctype=linechart<ype=pin&rtype=s&pin=&rse=0

EIA. (2021). *Independent Statistics and Analysis*. Electricity Data Browser. Retrieved 2021, from https://www.eia.gov/electricity/data/browser/#/topic/7?agg=0

&maptype=0.

- EIA. (2021, February 8). U.S. Energy Information Administration Independent Statistics and Analysis. EIA projects renewables share of U.S. electricity generation mix will double by 2050. https://www.eia.gov/todayinenergy/detail.php?id=46676.
- EIA. (n.d.). *Glossary of Energy Terminology*. U.S. Energy Information Administration (EIA). https://www.eia.gov/tools/glossary/index.php?id=Electric+utility.
- EPA. (2018, March). *Electricity Consumption by Sector*. EPA. https://www.epa.gov/energy/electricity-customers.
- EPA. (2019). Inventory of U.S. Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks: 1990-2018. Highlights of Recent Trends in Emissions and Sinks. https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2020-04/documents/us-ghg-inventory-1990-2018-data-highlights.pdf.
- EPA. (2021, March 5). *State Renewable Energy Resources*. EPA. https://www.epa.gov/statelocalenergy/state-renewable-energy-resources
- EPA. (2021). *State Solar Renewable Energy Certificate Markets*. Retrieved 2021, from https://www.epa.gov/repowertoolbox/state-solar-renewable-energy-certificate-markets.
- FRED. (2021, September). Consumer Price Index for all Urban Consumers: Energy in U.S. City Average. FRED Economic Data. Retrieved 2021, from https://fred.stlouisfed.org/series/CPIENGSL.

- IRENA. (2018). Renewable Energy Policies in a Time of Transition. International Renewable Energy Association. https://www.irena.org/-/media/Files/IRENA/Agency/Publication/2018/Apr/IRENA_IEA_REN21_Policies_2018.
- Long, N., & Steinberger, K. (2016, December 15). Renewable Energy Is Key to Fighting Climate Change. NRDC. https://www.nrdc.org/experts/noah-long/renewable-energy-key-fightingclimate-change.
- Marsh, J. (2021, October 18). *Solar Panel Cost in 2021: Average Cost by State*. Solar News. Retrieved 2021, from https://news.energysage.com/how-much-does-the-average-solarpanel-installation-cost-in-the-u-s/.
- Menz, F. C., & Vachon, S. (2006, February 19). The effectiveness of different policy regimes for promoting wind power: Experiences from the states. Energy Policy. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0301421505000091.
- Mostow, P. (2015, October 13). *Google, Walmart and Corporate Energy 2.0*. GreenBiz. https://www.greenbiz.com/article/google-walmart-and-corporate-energy-20.
- NREL. (n.d.). Solar Energy Basics. NREL.gov. https://www.nrel.gov/research/resolar.html#:~:text=The%20most%20commonly%20used%20solar,improve%20efficiency %2C%20and%20save%20money.
- NREL. (2021, February). Documenting a Decade of Cost Declines for PV Systems. NREL.gov. Retrieved 2021, from https://www.nrel.gov/news/program/2021/documenting-a-decade-ofcost-declines-for-pv-systems.html.

- NREL. (2021). *Solar Resource Maps and Data*. Geospatial Data Science. Retrieved 2021, from https://www.nrel.gov/gis/solar.html.
- Ogundrinde, O. (2018, December). Investing in Renewable Energy: Reconciling Regional Policy With Renewable Energy Growth. IEEE Xplore. https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/abstract/document/8528319.
- Rountree, V. (2019, February 18). *Nevada's experience with the Renewable Portfolio Standard*. Energy Policy. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S030142151930093X.
- Schaffer, A., Dobbins, T., & Pearson, S.-A. (2021, March). Interrupted time series analysis using autoregressive integrated moving average (ARIMA) models: a guide for evaluating largescale health interventions. ResearchGate. Retrieved 2021, from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/350291329_Interrupted_time_series_analysis_usi ng_autoregressive_integrated_moving_average_ARIMA_models_a_guide_for_evaluating _large-scale_health_interventions.
- SEIA. (2019). Solar Means Business: 2019 Report. Solar Energy Industries Association. Retrieved 2021, from https://www.solarmeansbusiness.com/.
- SEIA. (2020). *Solar State-By-State*. Solar Energy Industries Association (SEIA). https://www.seia.org/states-map.
- SEIA. (n.d.). *Property-Assessed Clean Energy*. Solar Energy Industries Association. https://www.seia.org/initiatives/property-assessed-clean-energy.

- SEIA. (n.d.). *Renewable Energy Standards*. Solar Energy Industries Association. https://www.seia.org/initiatives/renewable-energy-standards.
- SEIA. (n.d.). Solar Technologies. Solar Energy Industries Association. https://www.seia.org/initiatives/solartechnologies#:~:text=There%20are%20three%20primary%20technologies,(SHC)%20syste ms%2C%20which%20collect.

Shields, L. (2021, April 7). *State Renewable Portfolio Standards and Goals*. National Conference of State Legislatures (NCSL).

https://www.ncsl.org/research/energy/renewable-portfolio-standards.aspx.

- Solar Act of 2012. (2012). *Solar Act of 2012*. NJ Chapter 24. Retrieved October 27, 2021, from https://www.njcleanenergy.com/files/file/Renewable_Programs/SRECs/Solar_Act.pdf.
- Sylvia, T. (2019, July 29). Target Defends its Crown as Largest Adopter of On-site Corporate Solar Power. PV Magazine USA. Retrieved 2021, from https://pv-magazineusa.com/2019/07/25/target-defends-its-crown-as-largest-adopter-of-on-site-corporatesolar-power/.
- Turner, S. L., Karahalios, A., Forbes, A. B., Taljaard, M., Grimshaw, J. M., & McKenzie, J. E. (2021, June 26). Comparison of six statistical methods for interrupted time series studies: Empirical evaluation of 190 published series. BMC Medical Research Methodology. https://bmcmedresmethodol.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12874-021-01306-w#Sec13.

- Upton, G. B., & Snyder, B. F. (2017, June 23). Funding renewable energy: An analysis of renewable portfolio standards. Energy Economics. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0140988317301974.
- US Census. (2021, October 8). *Explore your State*. Retrieved 2021, from https://data.census.gov/cedsci/profile?q=United%20States&g=0100000US.
- Yin, H., & Powers, N. (2009, November 26). Do state renewable portfolio standards promote instate renewable generation?. Energy Policy. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0301421509008283.
- Zhou, S., & Solomon, B. D. (2020, March 13). Do renewable portfolio standards in the United States stunt renewable electricity development beyond mandatory targets? Energy Policy. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0301421520301336.

Appendix A

Comparative P-value

A two-part statistical test was used to determine if two slopes were statistically different from one another. The slopes were considered statistically different if the comparative p-value was less than 0.1. The first component was an equation developed and tested by Clogg et al. (1995) and confirmed by Paternoster et al. (1998). Coefficients ($\beta_1 \& \beta_2$) and standard errors ($SE\beta_1^2 \& SE\beta_2^2$) are used to output a value classified as Z.

$$Z = \frac{\beta_1 - \beta_2}{\sqrt{SE\beta_1^2 + SE\beta_2^2}}$$

Comparative P-value using a Cumulative Distribution Function

The cumulative distribution function comprised the second component of the two-part test. Where P is the probability that Z will have a value less than or equal to x and Z represents the value given by the equation above (Note: P in this equation is different from P in the segmented regression equation.)

$$F(x) = P(Z \le x)$$

This equation was used to test the null hypothesis that the difference between the preslope and post-slope is zero. The null hypothesis can be rejected if the resulting p-value is less than 0.1. A significance level of 0.1 was selected to indicate marginal significance. The p-value was increased from 0.05 to better reflect what is considered statistically significant when analyzing policy effectiveness in this research.

Appendix B

Smart Policy – The Smart Policy (Massachusetts) officially began in 2018, although speculation began in 2017 when the policy was announced (DOER 2017). Its intention was to provide incentives for qualifying solar PV projects and to re-structure the state's SREC program by converting credits from variable to fixed. (DSIRE 2021).

Solar Act – The Solar Act of 2012 (New Jersey) mandated 4.1% of electricity sales come from solar by 2028 (DSIRE 2021). Subsections of the Act include modifications to net metering (including aggregation) and SRECs in addition to RPS amendments to improve interconnection standards and increase renewable energy financing (Solar Act 2012).

Clean Energy Act – The Clean Energy Act (New Jersey) was passed in 2018 (Clean Energy Act 2018). It increased the 4.1% mandate from the Solar Act to 5.1% and created a trigger to shut down New Jersey's SREC program once 5.1% was met (Clean Energy Act 2018). Additionally, the Act increased New Jersey's RPS percentage requirement to 35% by 2025 and developed a Community Solar Energy Pilot Program (Clean Energy Act 2018)

Sunshine Program – The Sunshine Program (Pennsylvania) began in 2008 and ended in December of 2013, using rebates and SRECs to help reduce the cost burden of solar (Althoff et al. 2018). The program's closure caused SREC prices to plummet from over \$300 to less than \$20 per credit (Althoff et al. 2018). **A.B. 428** – Assembly Bill 428 (Nevada) was passed in 2013 and directed the Public Utilities Commission to evaluate "the comprehensive costs of and benefits from net metering" (Davies et al. 2017). Changes in net metering were coupled with financial incentives (\$185 million by 2014) to promote solar power in the state (Davies et al. 2017).